# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVAD Aar 11 2019 04:16 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### DARRELL E. WHITE,

Petitioner,

v.

# STATE OF NEVADA, EX REL DIVISION OF FORESTRY, ET AL.,

## Respondents

On Appeal of the Decision of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Dept. 32, Rob Bare presiding

## PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

TRAVIS BARRICK, ESQ Nevada Bar No. 9257 Gallian Welker & Beckstrom 540 E. St. Louis Ave. Las Vegas, Nevada 89104 Attorney for Petitioner Darrell E. White

#

I.	STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION iii
II.	ROUTING STATEMENT iii
III.	STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW iv
īV.	STANDARD OF REVIEWiv
v.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE 1
VI.	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 1
VII.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 6
VIII.	ARGUMENT 6
A.	Mr. White is entitled to TTD at an AMW that is no less than the minimum wage for the 144 days post-release from the NDOC 6
1.	Thee default rule for establishing the Average Monthly Wage is the "date of injury, but it is not the ONLY method
2.	Mr. White was never on a Work Restriction while incarcerated. 8
3.	Either under a "fair and reasonable" alternative method of calculation the AMW, or by establishing an alternate "date of injury," the calculation of Mr. White's AMW can be at a rate no less than the Nevada Minimum Wage.
4.	A finding by this Court in Mr. White's favor is unlikely to "open the flood gates" for similar claims
IX.	CONCLUSION
	Certificate of Compliance
	Statement of Related Cases
	Certificate of Service

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

#### **CASES**

Seino v. Employers Ins. Co. of Nevada, 121 Nev. 146, 149, 11P.3d 1107	
(2005), citing Beavers v. State, Dep't of Mtr. Vehicles, 109 Nev. 435,	
438, 851 P.2d 432, 434 (1993)ii	
STATUTES AND REGULATIONS	
Nevada Constitution, Article 15, §16	
NRS 616B.0287	
NRS 616C.425(1) 6	
NRS 616C.500(2)7	
NAC 616C.435 5, 6, 7, 11	

#### I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION.

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRS 616C.370.

#### II. ROUTING STATEMENT.

Petitioner is appealing the District Court decision which affirmed the Appeal Officer's decision in favor of the Respondents. This is a possible matter of first impression for the Court.

#### III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

It is unconstitutional, under the Nevada Constitution, Article 15, §16, for the TPA to compensate Mr. White for Temporary Total Disability based upon an Average Monthly Wage that is less than the State's minimum wage for the 144 days while he was on a Work Restriction, after his release from custody.

#### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

Agency decisions based upon questions of statutory construction "are purely legal issues, and [the Supreme Court] reviews pure questions of law de novo." Seino v. Employers Ins. Co. of Nevada, 121 Nev. 146, 149, 11P.3d 1107 (2005), citing Beavers v. State, Dep't of Mtr. Vehicles, 109 Nev. 435, 438, 851 P.2d 432, 434 (1993).

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This matter comes before the Court on an appeal from the District Court which affirmed the Order of the Appeals Officer, denying Mr. White Temporary Total Disability at an Average Monthly Wage that was at least equal to the State's minimum wage for the 144 days while he was on a Work Restriction, after his release from custody.

#### II. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

On 12/22/15, Mr. White injured his Right Long Finger, while in the employ of the Nevada Department of Forestry ("NDF") as a Nevada state prisoner. He was examined by Dr. John R. Rogers (Grover C. Dils Medical Center) who reviewed the x-ray report and diagnosed the injury as an "oval articular bone fragment … positioned dorsal to extensor tendon." That same day, the NDF filed a C-1, Notice of Injury, 2 a C-3, Employer's Report of Industrial Injury, 3 and a C-4, Employee's Claim.4

On 12/23/15, Mr. White was transported to UMC, where he was diagnosed with an "avulsion fracture of 3<sup>rd</sup> metacarpal."<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dr. Rogers ER Notes and x-ray report, ROA at 181-182.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Notice of Injury (C-1), ROA at 062.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Employer's Report of Industrial Injury, ROA at 064.

<sup>4</sup> Employee's Claim (C-4), ROA at 063.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> UMC Evaluation, ROA at 068.

On 1/8/16, he was examined by Dr. Fadell (Hand Surgery Specialists of Nevada), who confirmed the fracture and prescribed a brace for the finger, which Dr. Fadell ordered to be worn for the next 4 weeks. There was no Work Restriction placed upon Mr. White.

On 1/25/16, the third-party administrator ("TPA"), Cannon Cochran Management Services, Inc. ("CCMSI"), issued its written Notice of Claim Acceptance.<sup>7</sup>

On 2/24/16, Mr. White was again examined by Dr. Fadell, who noted "fracture fragments" beneath the skin. He was to continue "working on range of motion" and was allowed to discontinue the brace.<sup>8</sup> There was no Work Restriction placed upon Mr. White. In fact, Dr. Faddell stated in a subsequent written statement that he "intended to release Mr. White to full duty on 2/24/16.9

On 4/25/16, CCMSI replied to Mr. White's 4/3/16 letter, informing him that he was "required to continue treating through your incarceration. If you feel that you are not recovered upon your release, CCMSI will continue to facilitate treatment once you have been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Dr. Fadell exam notes, ROA at 184-192.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Notice of Claim Acceptance, ROA at 096.

<sup>8</sup> Dr. Fadell exam notes, ROA at 194.

<sup>9</sup> Dr. Fadell verified statement, ROA at 254.

released from the correctional facility."10

On 4/29/16, CCMSI wrote to Mr. White and informed him that he had 30 days to "make an appointment and be evaluated by a physician" because he had "not followed up with medical care as recommended by your physician."<sup>11</sup>

On 6/3/16, CCMSI wrote to Mr. White and informed him that his case was being closed because they had "not received a response" to their 4/29/16 request. He was informed that he had a right to appeal this determination.<sup>12</sup>

On 7/7/16, Mr. White was released from the custody of the NDOC, as he had expired his sentence and was not on parole. 13

On 7/19/16, Mr. White met with Mr. Barrick, seeking assistance with his claim. The next day, they prepared an Affidavit, with Exhibits, setting forth Mr. White's version of the events surrounding his Injury and the lack of treatment by the NDOC.<sup>14</sup>

On 8/4/16, CCMSI responded to Mr. White's Affidavit and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CCMSI letter, ROA at 098.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CCMSI letter, ROA at 099.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> On 6/12/16, Mr. White filed his Request for Hearing because he was "at the mercy of the prison doctors," he had "been moved twice" and "did not receive sufficient specialist care." This document was inadvertently omitted from the ROA.

<sup>13</sup> Decision and Order, ROA at 40; Transcript of Hearing, ROA at 15-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Mr. White Affidavit, with Exhibits, ROA at 196-98.

scheduled him for an appointment with Dr. Bronstein.15

On 8/17/16, Mr. White was examined by Dr. Bronstein, who observed a "healed fracture with an dorsal avulsion fragment that is dorsally displaced." Dr. Bronstein made an ambiguous entry of "Patient may work, Full duty. (No work status change)." When later asked if he intended to release Mr. White to full work status on that date, he responded, "I released Mr. White to the same work status he was the day before our appointment. My intention was to not change his work status on that visit until post-op." 17

On 9/29/16, CCSMI informed Mr. White that his Average

Monthly Wage ("AMW") for Temporary Total Disability ("TTD") was

"\$22.30 for a daily rate of \$0.50."

18

On 10/25/16, Mr. White was again examined by Dr. Bronstein, who recommended surgery on the R-finger and noted that, as of 10/19/16, Mr. White was "unable to work." Dr. Bronstein also prescribed a splint for Mr. White's finger.<sup>19</sup>

On or about 11/15/16, Dr. Bronstein performed surgery on Mr.

<sup>15</sup> CCMSI letter, ROA at 101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Dr. Bronstein exam notes, ROA at 200-201.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Dr. Bronstein verified statement, ROA at 215.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CCMSI Notice of Average Daily Wage, ROA at 203.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Dr. Bronstein exam notes, ROA at 205-208.

White's finger, and on 11/21/16, Dr. Bronstein authorized continuing physical therapy, which was approved for an additional 4 weeks.<sup>20</sup>

On 12/28/16, the TPA informed Mr. White that he had completed his medical treatment and was referring him out for a PPD.<sup>21</sup>

On 3/17/17, the Appeals Officer conducted an Appeal Hearing, wherein Mr. Barrick reiterated the arguments in his Appeal Memorandum,<sup>22</sup> alleging that it is unconstitutional to pay Mr. White less than the minimum wage for the period after release from custody.<sup>23</sup>

On 8/17/17, the Appeals Officer issued the Decision and Order, wherein it was determined that the TPA's determination of AMW was "appropriate," because Mr. White "is not entitled to any rights and remedies established by Chapter 616A to 617 of the Nevada Revised Statutes." It was also determined that "there is no doubt that the claimant, subsequent to release from custody, was declared unable to work until Dr. Bronstein's release on December 2016." 25

The Decision and Order also cited NAC 616.435 for the basis for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Dr. Bronstein authorization for physical therapy, ROA at 210-213.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CCMSI Notice of PPD Exam, ROA at 217-218. Accordingly, Mr. White was under a physician's care for his injury from 8/6/16, the date of his release from NDOC, until 12/28/16, for a total of 144 days.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Claimant's Appeal Memorandum, ROA at 177-178.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Transcript of Hearing, ROA at 029-30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Decision and Order, ROA at 043.

<sup>25</sup> Decision and Order, ROA at 042.

calculating the AMW, which the TPA used, but also cited NAC 616C.435(7) as a "catch all provision" which provides that the method used for calculating the AMW "should be reasonable and fair." <sup>26</sup>

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

It is unconstitutional, under the Nevada Constitution, Article 15, §16, for the TPA to compensate Mr. White for Temporary Total Disability based upon an Average Monthly Wage that is less than the State's minimum wage for the 144 days on a Work Restriction between 8/6/16 and 12/28/16.

#### IV. ARGUMENT.

- A. Mr. White is entitled to TTD at an AMW that is no less than the minimum wage for the 144 days post-release from the NDOC.
- 1. The default rule for establishing the Average Monthly Wage is the "date of injury, but it is not the ONLY method.

The TPA, their counsel, the Hearing Officer, the Appeals Officer and the District Court are all correct in stating that the default rule, "NRS 616C.425(1), requires that the amount of compensation and benefits and the person or persons entitled thereto must be determined as of the date of the accident or injury to the employee, and their rights thereto become fixed as of that date."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Decision and Order, ROA at 042.

But that default rule is based upon certain assumptions; most important of which is that the date of injury is the same date as the injured worker was placed upon a Work Restriction due to their injuries. This is undoubtedly the situation in the overwhelming majority of cases. So much so that it isn't even questioned.

However, NAC 616.435(7) contains a "catch all provision" which provides that the method for calculating the AMW "should be reasonable and fair." It is hardly arguable that the TPA's determination of Mr. White's TTD at \$.50 per day is "reasonable and fair," once he was released from prison, under a Work Restriction and unable to work to support himself.

NRS 616B.028 provides that an inmate "confined at the state prison" is entitled to coverage under the modified program ... established by the NDOC. But neither NRS 616B.028 nor the NDOC regulations specify the entitlement to TTD once the inmate is released from custody.

NRS 616C.500(2), which sets forth Temporary Partial Disability ("TPD") compensation, **does** address this issue, where it states that the injured inmate is "entitled to receive such benefits if the injured employee is released from incarceration during the period of disability." The statute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Appeals Officer Decision and Order, ROA at 042.

provides for the restoration of benefits that were obtained before incarceration.

Thus, in one situation, the statutes and regulations contemplate a situation such as Mr. White's and in another situation, it utterly fails to do so.

Accordingly, the default calculation of Mr. White's AMW presents a "hole" in the regime that fails to comply with the purpose of TTD; that is, to provide a subsistence income while he was under a Work Restriction and unable to provide for his basic needs. He has no remedy other than an Order by the Court, remanding the case for a calculation of an AMW that is "reasonable and fair."

# 2. Mr. White was never on a Work Restriction while incarcerated.

Even though the requisite forms were filed for Mr. White on 12/22/16, there is NO evidence in the Record that Mr. White was ever placed upon a Work Restriction during the period he was incarcerated.

Mr. White testified that after his initial exam by Dr. Fadell, prison officials "medically cleared [him] to go back to camp," and he performed "yard labor," even though he was not "expected to work." He also testified that he earned his good time credits for working when he stated, "So that's

how I got my days."28

On 2/24/16, Dr. Fadell told Mr. White that he could stop using the brace.<sup>29</sup>

There is no evidence in the Record on Appeal that Mr. White was ever examined again by prison officials or an outside doctor.

Accordingly, there is no "substantial evidence in the record" that Mr. White was on a Work Restriction from the date of the accident until the day he was seen by Dr. Bronstein, on 8/6/17. It also appears from Dr. Bronstein's verified statement that he assumed (incorrectly) that Mr. White was on a Work Restriction when he was first examined, when he stated, "My intention was to not change his work status on that visit until post-op."30

In Mr. White's case, the 12/22/15 "date of injury" is irrelevant to his situation and he should be entitled to an "alternate" date of injury for purposes of calculating his AMW.

3. Either under a "fair and reasonable" alternative method of calculation the AMW, or by establishing an alternate "date of injury," the calculation of Mr. White's AMW can be at a rate no less than the Nevada Minimum Wage.

The Nevada Constitution, Article 15, §16 states, "each employer shall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Transcript of Appeal Hearing, ROA at 011-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Transcript of Appeal Hearing, ROA at 013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Dr. Bronstein verified statement, ROA at 215.

pay a wage to each employee of not less than the hourly rates set forth in this section." And, according to the Office of the Labor Commissioner, the minimum wage for workers in Nevada, as of 4/1/16, is "no less than \$7.25 per hour."31

Accordingly, payment of TTD, based upon an AMW calculated on less than the minimum wage for the 144 days he was "unable to work" violates the Nevada Constitution.

It should be obvious that it is patently unfair to pay Mr. White \$0.50 per day for the period after he was released from prison and first placed upon a Work Restriction, as one purposes of the TTD is to provide at least the minimum income to the worker while they are under a doctor's care and unable to earn a wage. His needs while incarcerated are minimal, compared to his needs upon release, which include housing & utilities, food, and transportation, just to name a few. It is inconceivable that he could meet these needs on \$0.50 per day.

# 4. A finding by this Court in Mr. White's favor is unlikely to "open the flood gates" for similar claims.

By way of the facts presented here, Mr. White is in a unique position. The insurer should not be entitled to a windfall, simply because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Mr. White requests Judicial Notice of the 4/1/16 2016 Labor Commissioner Annual Minimum Wage Bulletin, inadvertently omitted from the ROA.

Mr. White was at the mercy of the NDOC for medical care (which he never received) and a compensation regime than never contemplated his situation.

There is no evidence in the record that Mr. White's situation is anything other than an isolated incident.

#### V. CONCLUSION.

For the reasons set forth above, Mr. White requests that the Court reverse the Decision of the District Court, remand the matter to the Appeals Office, and order the TPA to recalculate the AMW for the 144 days post-incarceration, based upon an amount no less than the minimum wage, under NAC 616C.435(7).