1
2 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

3 DARRELL E. WHITE,

4 Appellant,

5 v.

6
7 STATE OF NEVADA, ex rel. DIVISION
8 OF FORESTRY; CANNON COCHRAN
9 MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. aka
10 CCMSI, a foreign corporation,

11 Respondents.

SUPREME COURT NO.
76737

DISTRICT COURT NO:
A-17-760282-J

Electronically Filed
Apr 24 2019 01:44 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

12 **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF**

13
14 DANIEL L. SCHWARTZ, ESQ.
15 JOEL P. REEVES, ESQ.
16 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD &
SMITH LLP
17 2300 W. Sahara Avenue, Suite 300, Box 28
18 Las Vegas, Nevada 89102-4375
Attorneys for Respondents
19 *State of Nevada Division of Forestry and*

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

20
21 On September 20, 2016, Appellant was advised that the request for
22 compensation during incarceration was denied. (APP p. 120)

23
24 On September 29, 2016, Appellant was advised of his average monthly wage
25 (hereinafter "AMW"). It was noted that Appellant's AMW was \$22.93 which
26 resulted in a daily rate of \$0.50. (APP pp. 121-130)

1 On September 29, 2016, Appellant returned to Dr. Bronstein. Surgery was
2 discussed. (APP pp. 131-142)

3
4 On October 18, 2016, Appellant was advised that he was no longer eligible
5 for TTD benefits effective September 30, 2016, as he was released to full duty.
6 (APP p. 143)

7
8 On October 19, 2016, Appellant presented to Dr. Bronstein for surgery.
9 (APP pp. 144-149)

10 On October 20, 2016, Appellant was advised of an overpayment of benefits.
11 (APP pp. 150-151)

12
13 On October 25, 2016, Appellant returned for postoperative evaluation. (APP
14 pp. 152-159)

15
16 Appellant returned to Dr. Bronstein on November 8, 2016. Occupational
17 therapy was ordered. (APP p. 160)

18 Following Hearing No. 1701007-SA, the Hearing Officer issued a Decision
19 and Order dated November 8, 2016, affirming the September 29, 2016
20 determination related to the average monthly wage. (APP pp. 161-163)

21
22 Following Hearing No. 1701217-SA, the Hearing Officer issued a Decision
23 and Order dated November 22, 2016, affirming the October 20, 2016
24 determination terminating TTD benefits and asserting an overpayment. (APP pp.
25 164-165)

1 On December 1, 2016, Appellant's counsel appealed the November 8, 2016
2 Decision and Order and the November 22, 2016 Decision and Order. (APP pp.
3 166-167)
4

5 An Order consolidating appeals was filed. (APP p. 168)

6 A Motion for Change of Venue was filed by Appellant's counsel. (APP pp.
7 169-171) An Order granting same was filed. (APP p. 172)
8

9 This matter came on for hearing before the Appeals Officer on March 14,
10 2017. Appellant testified that, while he was incarcerated, the State had a program
11 which allowed him to perform work for the Division of Forestry. The work was
12 totally voluntary, i.e. Appellant did not have to participate in the work program if
13 he did not want to. However, if he did participate in the work program, he could
14 earn credit to get time taken off of his sentence. He was also paid a nominal fee of
15 between \$18 and \$22 a month. (APP pp. 19:3-23:20)
16
17

18 On August 16, 2017, the Appeals Officer affirmed the September 29, 2016
19 AMW determination. The Appeals Officer acknowledged that Appellant was
20 attempting to make out a constitutional argument that Appellant should be entitled
21 to a minimum wage of \$7.25 per hour to be used to calculate his AMW. However,
22 the Appeals Officer held that Appellant was "employed" in a voluntary program
23 which allowed him to earn time off of his sentence in addition to a nominal wage
24
25
26
27

1 and under NRS 616C.425, all compensation is determined at the date of the
2 accident. (APP pp. 36-43)

3
4 Appellant filed the instant Petition for Judicial Review to contest the August
5 16, 2017 Decision and Order.

6 On July 25, 2018, the District Court found that the Appeals Officer's
7 Decision was supported by substantial evidence and denied the Petition for Judicial
8 Review. Appellant appealed to the Supreme Court.
9

10 V.

11 **JURISDICTION**

12
13 **A. ROUTING STATEMENT**

14 Under NRAP 17(b)(10), this case would be presumptively assigned to the
15 Court of Appeals as it concerns a Petition for Judicial Review of an administrative
16 agency's final decision.
17

18 **B. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

19
20 Judicial review of a final decision of an agency is governed by NRS
21 233B.135.

22 **NRS 233B.135 Judicial review: Manner of**
23 **conducting; burden of; standard for review.**

24
25 1. Judicial review of a final decision of an agency must
be:

- 26 (a) Conducted by the court without a jury; and
27 (b) Confined to the record.

1 In cases concerning alleged irregularities in procedure
2 before an agency that are not shown in the record, the
3 court may receive evidence concerning the irregularities.

4 2. The final decision of the agency shall be deemed
5 reasonable and lawful until reversed or set aside in whole
6 or in part by the court. The burden of proof is on the
7 party attacking or resisting the decision to show that the
8 final decision is invalid pursuant to subsection 3.

9 3. The court shall not substitute its judgment for that of
10 the agency as to the weight of evidence on a question of
11 fact. The court may remand or affirm the final decision or
12 set it aside in whole or in part if substantial rights of the
13 Appellant have been prejudiced because the final
14 decision of the agency is:

15 (a) In violation of constitutional or statutory
16 provisions;

17 (b) In excess of the statutory authority of the
18 agency;

19 (c) Made upon unlawful procedure;

20 (d) Affected by other error of law;

21 (e) Clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative
22 and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

23 (f) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of
24 discretion.

25 The standard of review is whether there is substantial evidence to support
26 the underlying decision. The reviewing court should limit its review of
27 administrative decisions to determine if they are based upon substantial evidence.
28 North Las Vegas v. Public Service Comm'n., 83 Nev. 278, 291, 429 P.2d 66
(1967); McCracken v. Fancy, 98 Nev. 30, 639 P.2d 552 (1982). Substantial
evidence is that quantity and quality of evidence which a reasonable man would
accept as adequate to support a conclusion. See, Maxwell v. SIIS, 109 Nev. 327,

1 331, 849 P.2d 267, 270 (1993); and Horne v. SIIS, 113 Nev. 532, 537, 936 P.2d
2 839 (1997).

3
4 When reviewing administrative court decisions, this Court has held that, on
5 factual determinations, the findings and ultimate decisions of an appeals officer are
6 not to be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous or otherwise amount to an
7 abuse of discretion. Nevada Industrial Comm'n. v. Reese, 93 Nev. 115, 560 P.2d
8 1352 (1977). An administrative determination regarding a question of fact will not
9 be set aside unless it is against the manifest weight of the evidence. Nevada Indus.
10 Comm'n. v. Hildebrand, 100 Nev. 47, 51, 675 P.2d 401 (1984).
11
12

13 In determining whether an administrative decision is supported by
14 substantial evidence, the methodology for this Court is also well-defined. First, for
15 each issue appealed, the pertinent rule of law is identified. Thereafter, the
16 evidence on appeal is reviewed to determine whether the agency's decision on
17 each issue is supported by substantial factual evidence. State Dep't of Motor
18 Vehicles v. Torres, 105 Nev. 558, 560, 799 P.2d 959, 960-961 (1989). If the
19 decision of the administrative agency on the appealed issue is supported by
20 substantial factual evidence, this Court must affirm the decision of the agency as to
21 that issue. On the other hand, a decision by an administrative agency that lacks
22 support in the form of substantial evidence is arbitrary or capricious and, thus, an
23
24
25
26
27

1 abuse of discretion that warrants reversal. NRS 233B.135(3); Titanium Metals
2 Corp. v. Clark County, 99 Nev. 397, 399, 663 P.2d 355, 357 (1983).

3
4 Substantial evidence has been defined as that quantity and quality of
5 evidence which a reasonable man could accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
6 State Emp't Sec. Dep't v. Hilton Hotels Corp., 102 Nev. 606, 608 at n.1, 729 P.2d
7 497 (1986). Additionally, substantial evidence is not to be considered in isolation
8 from opposing evidence, but evidence that survives whatever in the record fairly
9 detracts from its weight. Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 477,
10 488 (1951); Container Stevedoring Co. v. Director, OWCP, 935 F.2d 1544, 1546
11 (9th Cir. 1991). This latter point is clearly the significance of the requirement in
12 NRS 233B.135(3)(e) which states that the reviewing court consider the whole
13 record.
14
15
16

17 Furthermore, a decision that is affected by error of law cannot be found to be
18 supported by substantial evidence. A decision that lacks support in the form of
19 substantial evidence is arbitrary or capricious and, thus, an abuse of discretion that
20 warrants reversal. Titanium Metals, *supra*.

21
22 NRS 616A.010(2) and (4) are clear that Nevada no longer has liberal
23 construction. Issues must be decided on their merits, and not according to the
24 common law principle that requires statutes governing workers' compensation to
25
26
27

1 be liberally construed. That means workers' compensation statutes must not be
2 interpreted or construed broadly or liberally in favor of any party.

3
4 VI.

5 LEGAL ARGUMENT

6 A. APPELLANT'S BURDEN BEFORE THE APPEALS OFFICER

7
8 It was the Appellant, not Respondents, who had the burden of proving
9 entitlement to any benefits under any accepted industrial insurance claim by a
10 preponderance of all the evidence. State Industrial Insurance System v. Hicks, 100
11 Nev. 567, 688 P.2d 324 (1984); Johnson v. State ex rel. Wyoming Worker's
12 Compensation Div., 798 P.2d 323 (1990); Hagler v. Micron Technology, Inc., 118
13 Idaho 596, 798 P.2d 55 (1990).
14

15
16 In attempting to prove his case, the Appellant has the burden of going
17 beyond speculation and conjecture. That means that the Appellant must establish
18 all facets of the claim by a preponderance of all the evidence. To prevail,
19 Appellant must present and prove more evidence than an amount which would
20 make his case and his opponent's "evenly balanced." Maxwell v. SIIS, Id.; SIIS v.
21 Khweiss, 108 Nev. 123, 825 P.2d 218 (1992); SIIS v. Kelly, 99 Nev. 774, 671 P.2d
22 29 (1983); 3, A. Larson, the Law of Workmen's Compensation, § 80.33(a).
23
24 ("preponderance of the evidence" is "evidence which is of greater weight or is
25
26
27

1 more convincing than the evidence which is offered in opposition.” Black’s Law
2 Dictionary)

3
4 NRS 616A.010(2) makes it clear that:

5 A claim for compensation filed pursuant to the provisions
6 of chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, or chapter 617 of
7 NRS must be decided on its merit and not according to
8 the principle of common law that requires statutes
9 governing workers’ compensation to be liberally
10 construed because they are remedial in nature.

11 **B. APPELLANT’S WAGE AT THE TIME OF INJURY CONTROLS**

12 As discussed above, Appellant was injured while participating in a *voluntary*
13 State work program which allows inmates to perform work for the Division of
14 Forestry in exchange for time off their sentence. The program also paid the inmates
15 a nominal wage. As a result, Appellant’s AMW was deemed to be \$22.93 which
16 resulted in a daily rate of \$0.50. (APP pp. 121-130) Appellant does not contest that
17 this calculation was incorrect. Rather, Appellant argues that his AMW should be
18 re-calculated based on what the State minimum wage was on the day of his release.
19 The problem with Appellant’s argument is that the legislature has clearly opined
20 that an injured employee’s wage is *fixed* at the date of injury. There are no other
21 “alternative methods” to re-calculate AMW.
22
23
24

25 ...

26 ...
27

1 **NRS 616C.425 Date of determination of amount of**
2 **compensation and benefits. Except as otherwise**
3 **provided by a specific statute:**

4 1. The amount of compensation and benefits and
5 the person or persons entitled thereto must be determined
6 as of the date of the accident or injury to the employee,
7 and their rights thereto become fixed as of that date.

8 2. If the employee incurs a subsequent injury or
9 disability that primarily arises from a previous accident
10 or injury that arose out of and in the course of his or her
11 employment, the date of the previous accident or injury
12 must be used to determine the amount of compensation
13 and benefits to which the Appellant is entitled.

14 With respect to statutory interpretation, this Court has held that “the word
15 ‘must’...imposes a mandatory requirement.” Liberty Mut. v. Thomasson, 317 P.3d
16 831, 833 (Nev. 2014)

17 At the date of injury, Appellant was earning \$0.50 per day. If that wage was
18 proper on the date of injury (and there is no argument that it was not), then
19 Appellant’s wages were properly calculated for the duration of Appellant’s claim.
20 There is no provision in either the workers’ compensation system or the State
21 Constitution that provides that an inmate is entitled to a recalculated AMW on the
22 date of their release.

23 ...

24 ...

25 ...

1 **1. The State Minimum Wage Has No Bearing On AMW**

2 Wage replacement benefits (such as TTD and TPD) are calculated by using
3
4 the AMW are not wages, *per se*.¹ As the term would suggest, wage replacement
5 benefits are indeed a *benefit* that a workers' compensation claimant may be entitled
6 to. As such, while it may be true that the Nevada Constitution provides that "each
7 employer shall pay a wage to each employee [of no less than \$7.25 per hour],"²
8 Respondent Administrator is not an employer and is not paying Appellant a wage.
9 Respondent Administrator is providing Appellant with a benefit under the workers'
10 compensation system, a benefit that is fixed on the date of injury.
11
12

13 **2. The Date That Work Restrictions Begin Have No Bearing On AMW**

14 Appellant argues that the "default" method for calculating AMW is
15 predicated on the assumption that work restrictions begin on the date of injury.
16 Appellant is incorrect. NRS 616C.425 is clear and makes no mention of the date
17 when work restrictions began. The only date that matters for calculating AMW is
18 the date of injury. Appellant's allegation that AMW can be calculated from the
19 date that work restrictions begin is unsupported by law and, if adopted, would
20 result in a substantial number of workers' compensation claimant's never getting
21
22
23

24
25 ¹ See NAC 616C.423, NAC 616C.432, and NAC 616C.435 regarding calculation
of AMW.

26 ² Nevada Constitution, Article 15, Section 16 (including citation from Office of
27 Labor Commissioner as cited by Appellant)

1 an AMW calculation. Indeed, consider a claimant that never gets work restrictions
2 but nonetheless proves entitlement to a permanent partial disability ("PPD"). How
3 would this claimant know what his AMW is if he never had work restrictions? The
4 answer is simple: there are no alternative ways to calculate AMW. The date of
5 injury controls in every single case.
6

7 **3. There Is No "Fairness" Calculation As Appellant Has Alleged**

8 Appellant cites to NAC 616C.435 and claims that AMW calculations
9 "should be reasonable and fair" and that Appellant's calculation is not "reasonable
10 and fair" because it is so low. However, first off, Appellant acknowledges that the
11 work program he was involved with at the time of his injury was voluntary.
12 Appellant was not required to participate in that program and he received credit for
13 his sentence by participating in it. Indeed, by participating in the program, NRS
14 616B.028 applied and limited the workers' compensation rights that Appellant was
15 entitled to. Appellant agreed to the program and its limited rights in exchange for
16 credit against his incarceration term. If Appellant believed that this arrangement
17 was "unfair," he did not have to participate in the program and could have simply
18 served out his sentence.
19

20 Second, NAC 616C.435 provides the "period used to calculate average
21 monthly wage" and outlines the various methods that can be used to determine
22 what wages are used in that calculation. NAC 616C.435 does not alter the date
23
24
25
26
27

1 which controls when AMW is calculated from; that is fixed at the date of injury.
2 Rather, NAC 616C.435 indeed contemplates the *period* used to actually calculate
3 the AMW. The subsections of NAC 616C.435 rank the preferences for the period
4 used. The most preferable period is the 12 weeks which precede the date of injury.
5 However, if 12 weeks do not accurately represent that claimant's wages, a one (1)
6 year period can be used. If there are not 12 weeks worth of wages, the minimum
7 that can be used is 4 weeks. If 4 weeks are not available, a projected wage must be
8 used.
9

10
11 However, if none of the above methods can "be applied reasonably and
12 fairly, an average monthly wage must be calculated by the insurer at 100 percent
13 of: (a) The sum which reasonably represents the average monthly wage of the
14 injured employee as defined in NAC 616C.420 to 616C.447, inclusive, *at the time*
15 *the injury* or illness occurs; or (b) The hourly wage *on the day the injury* or illness
16 occurs, calculated by using the projected working schedule." NAC 616C.435(7)
17

18
19 Appellant alleges that section (7) should be analyzed in this case because it
20 contains the words "reasonable and fair" and Appellant argues that his current
21 calculation is not fair. However, Appellant does not consider the context in which
22 the words "reasonable and fair" appear. Indeed, even if none of the other methods
23 for calculating AMW could be applied to Appellant's case (and Appellant has not
24 argued for such a position), section (7) clearly states that wages at the time of
25
26
27

1 injury control. Thus, even one of the sections which Appellant purports to rely on
2 undercuts his case.

3
4 **4. Entitlement To TPD Has Nothing To Do With How AMW Is**
5 **Calculated**

6 It appears that Appellant has confused entitlement to total partial disability
7 (“TPD”) benefits with AMW calculation. Appellant argues that NRS 616C.500(2)
8 should control this matter because it states that an injured inmate is “entitled to
9 receive [TPD] benefits if the injured employee is released from incarceration
10 during the period of disability.” However, no one is arguing that Appellant is not
11 entitled to TPD benefits. Just because Appellant became entitled to wage
12 replacement benefits upon his release from incarceration does not mean that he is
13 entitled to a new AMW calculation. This citation to NRS 616C.500(2) has nothing
14 to do with how AMW is calculated.
15
16
17

18 In conclusion, the legislature has clearly contemplated the exact situation at
19 bar and has not provided some sort of carve out which would allow an inmate who
20 is injured while participating in a work program to somehow reestablish his
21 entitlement to benefits as the date upon which the inmate is released. Just like
22 every other claimant in the state, Appellant’s AMW was determined based upon
23 the wages he was earning at the time of his injury. NRS 616C.425. Though novel,
24 Appellant’s argument for a recalculated AMW is without merit. The Appeals
25
26
27

1 Officer's August 16, 2017 Decision and Order was proper. This Petition for
2 Judicial Review should be denied.

3
4 **VII.**

5 **CONCLUSION**

6 Based upon the foregoing, the Appeals Officer's Decision and Order was
7 appropriate. The Appeals Officer's Decision and Order was based on sound legal
8 theories and factual conclusions that are amply supported by the record.
9

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